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Railways to Chard

By R, J. SELLICK

Phato]

HE ancient boreugh of Chard, in
Semerset, probably has been the
subject of as many rail and

canal schemes as any town of its size
in England. Many of these were projects
to link the Bristol and English Channels,
as the town lay on the most suitable
route across the peninsula of the South-
West. The first such canal proposal
which would have affected the town was
as early as 1769. Many others have
followed right up to the present day,
sume being more practicable than others.
It is not preposed to deal with the
canal schemes here but it should be
mentioned that, although no canal to
link Chard with the two channels was
comstructed, the town eventually was
linked with Bridgwater and Taunton by
inland waterway on May 28, 1842,

The first railway propesal affecting
Chard was in 1830, whetl, encouraged
by the opening eof the Bridgwater &
Taunten Canal three years earlier, a
group of lecal gentlemen approached
James Green, an Exeter engineer of some
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Taunton train in the Joint Station at Chard in 1928, with G.W.R. 2-4-0 tank
locomotive No. B

local repute, and asked him te report en
the possibility of a canal being built
to connect Chard with the Bridgwater &
Taunton Canal. Green made a survey,
and reported in favour of a railway, but
nathing further came of this interesting
proposal until 1833, when it was decided
ta build the canal instead.

On July 1, 1842 the Bristol & Exeter
Railway was opened to Taopnton, and
it was opened threughout en May 1, 1844,
This gave an added impetus locally to
the general Railway Mania of 1845,
and Chard was, of course, not left ont of
these schemes. The first in the field was
the Bristol & English Channels Direct
Junction IRailwav, which was te preceed
" from Watchet to Taunton, and thence
by Hatch Beauchamp, and by Ilmnster,
te Chard, and by Crewkerne, and Bea-
minster to Iirltl!mn Harbour.' The
Bridgwater & Taunton Canal (hard hit
by eompetition from the Bristel &
Exeter Railway) already was concerned
with propesed railways [rom london to
Okehampton and Penzance, which were



RAWAYS

to u=e-canal routes wherepassible, Beving
that ~the mew cross-pompinanlic ralbway
wauld further reduce its rallicy it
roposcd a rival scheme in cenjinction
witll the Chard Canal. The two canal
companies proposed the Bristol & Englhsh
Chanvels Connections Railway & Harbour
which, commeneing at a new harbour
te be built at Stolford, seven miles
nerth west of Bridgwater, ran inland to
Bridywater, which was to be served
with a multiplicity of rautes and branches,
After elfveting junctions with the Bristol
& Fxcier Railway, the proposed line
ran along the canal to Creech, where a
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pisal vimpetid dur public suppurt. [
wivs Ul .yme Regis & Tannton Railw.y,
wlhich weuld have alse passed through
Chard, but which had an even shorter
life than its competitors.

Parliament does not appear to have
viewed the connection between the
channels as being so necessary as did
the promoters of these schemes, for it
sanctioned only a line from Stoliord
to Bridgwater, and another from Creech
to Ilminster, both being parts of the canal
companies’ subsidiary schemes. These
powers were obtained in 1846, and, not
wishing to have part of its line as a canal
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A recent view of Chard Town Station, the original L.S.W.R. terminus, from
which passenger services were withdrawn in 1916

branch centinued te Taunton. The
main line then fellowed the Chard Canal
to lmin<icr, and thenee ran to Bndport
by way of Crewkerne and Beaminster.
Chard wus tw be served by a branch from
Ilminster which was to continue to
Axminster and Lyme Regis,

As o secend string to their bow the
two comipinnes  alsa put  forward as
separate schemcs these parts of the main
teute frrom Stolloal Harbour to Bridg-
water, and thence wlemg the Bridgwater &
Taunton oCanal 10 'Fawiten, and from
Creceln 1o Fhacd shopg the runtg of the
Chard Canal, A oy a=livre time anather pro-
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and part as a railway, the Chard Canal
at once applied for powers to convert the
remainder of its route, from Ilmnster to
Chard, inte a railway. A further Act,
obtained in 1847, sanctioned this, and
alse changed the name of the Chard
Camal Company to the Chard Railway
Company, but this change was nominal
only, and as the necessary capital was
not fortheoming (the canal was already
up to its ears in debt) no work was
undertaken. The propesal was revived in
1852, and an Act ebtained in the following
vear to convert the canal into a railway,
sl extend the line te Taunton, buot
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again the scheme collapsed through lack
of capital.

In 1845, a railway had been proposed
(with London & South Western support)
to link Exeter, Yeovil and Dorchester,
but on account of Great Western U=
sitiony, no powers were obtained. This
line would have passed some three miles
tu the south of Chard, and in 1846, the
Excter Great Western Railway was
proposed fromt Yeovil te Exeter, with
Great Woestern support, on a route much
the same as that of the earlier scheme.
This line was successfully opposed by the
South Western and Bristol & Exeter
Companics, but a revival of the Exeter,
Yeovil & Dorchester was more fortunate,
and obtained its Act in 1847. A financial
crisis forced the scheme to be shelved,
and although an attempt was made in
1831 to revive the idea of a through Seuth
Western route to Exeter, by way ol
Salisbury  and Yeovil, the L.5.W.R.
shareholders refused to back it

In 1853, the Great Western supported
# mew proposal for a line from Dorchester
te Iixeter, which would alse have passed
te the south of Chard, and to defeat it
the South Western gave an undertaking
to submit a Bill of its own in the next
session.  Unfortunately, on the Bill
being prepared, the shareholders refused
to assent tu it, with the result that
the company was ordered te fulfil its
pledge on pain of its dividends being
stopped by the Board of Trade. As a
tailway was under construction from the
South Western main line at Basingstoke
te Salisbury, and an Act had been
obtained in 1854 to extend this to Yeovil,
it was decided to apply for powers from
Yeovil to Exeter instead of from 13or-
chester. This apparently satisfied Parlia-
ment, for the line was authorised in 1857,
The new route to Exeter was at length
opened to passengers on July 19, 186i1
[goods irains were not run until Sep-
tember 1). Chard wab served by a station
named Chard Road, some three miles
to the south of the town.

Chard had for seme time been hopeful
of having a railway of its own, and in
August, 1856, a meeting had been hrld
in the town to advecate railway commun-
ication with Taunton, [t was proposed
that lwith the Bristol & Lxeter and
the London & South Western Railways
should be asked if they were willing to
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construct a line, Neither company seems
to have Deen very anxious to serve
Chard, and no further action was taken
until I83%9, when a meeting at Chard
resaolved :

That in the opinion of this meeting a
Bailway from  the London & South
Western Railway to Chard with a tram-
toad te the Canal Basin is of very great
impettance to the prosperity of the Town
and this meeting pledges itsclf to afford
the project every support in its power,

The promiders lost ne time, and an
Act authorising the line was obtained
on Mav 25, L1868, and the first sod was cut
on November | following, Work started
the next day, bul financial ditficulties were
encountered, and for suome six months of
the fullowing vear no work was done at all,
The line was however completed in 1863
from Chard oad en the LS. W.R, to a
station on the ecastern side of the tiwm,
described as heing ** close to Mr. Heck’s
farmvard,” and it was inspected and
passed for traffic by Captain Clarke of
the Board uf Trade on May 1. The line
was  scheduled to be opened to the
public on May 8, but as this had not
been anvunced until the previous evening,
the town had little time to prepare a
suitable send-off. There was te be no
official epening eeremony, but never-
theless the inhabitants of Chard were not
going to neglect this opportunity for a
bean-feast, for they were alse to celebrate
the demolition of the town's East Gate.

Although manv people travelled by
the 7.40 a.m. train {and noisily denounced
the third class fare of 4d. for just over
three miles), the 11.30 a.m. train was the
main event of the dayv., The Maver and
Trwn Council travelled by this train
(which was hanled by the engine Firefly)
and, on their return, they witnessed the
demolition of 1he East Gate. The navvies
were  then  provided with  hot  beef
and potatoes at the Red Lion, while
the Mavor amd local worthies  had
luncheon in a marquee near the station,
In the speeches that followed, same
rather pointed remarks were made con-
cerning the tewn's coal merchants who
had opposed the line, The afternoon
was given up to " dancing, kissing in the
ring, jJumping in sacks, football, ete,'”

The line was worked from the outset
by the L.5W.R. and in 1864 the local
company was dissolved and the railway
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taken over entirely by the South Western.
powers having been obtained by an Act
the previous year, Chard Road was
renamed Chard Junction in 1872
Although Chard had been keen +to
obtain a branch from the L.S.W.R. it
looked north te Taunton, the county
town of Somerset, rather than south to
Devon and Derset. So vet another line
was promoted te link the two towns.
This Chard & Taunton Railway obtained
its Act of Parliament in 1861, which
empowered 1t to construct a standard-
gauge line, and gave both the Bristel &
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the line itself, on the broad gauge of 7 ft,

Work was started in 1864 e con-
tractors were Logan & Rennie. and the
engineer a local man, John Fex, of Hatch,
but he was evidently little more than
resident engineer, for the station buildings
and many of the engineering works are
typical of contemparary Bristol & Exeter
design. The line was at last opened to
passengers on September 11, 1866, but
as the poods sheds were not completed,
poods traffic was not catered for until
the following March. As had been the
case with the canal, the completion o
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Looking north from Chard Central Station, with the bay platform on the left

Exeter and Seuth Western Companies
power to subseribe, Fearful thal the
South Western would gain  access to
Taunten, the Bristol & Exeter took
advantage of these powers, but few
others invested their money in  the
company, perhaps deterred by the state
of the Chard Canal, which, far from paying
a dividend, could not even meet its
mortgage interest. A second Act was
obtained in 1862, enabling the B.E.R.
to subscribe a further sum, but even this
proved insufficient to emable work to
be started on the line, and so the B.E.R.
obtained an Act m the following Vear
enabling it to take over the powers of the
Chard & Taunton Company, and build

the line had been so long delayed that
the citizens of Chard lost interest and
although on the opening day trains were
well filled, no special festivities marked
the occasion,

The new line te Taunton had inter-
meciate stations at Hatch and Ilminster,
and at Chard a new station was epened
jointly with the South Western, although
the Bristel & Ixeter Company
responsible for its censtruction. The
onginal LS W.IR. terminus was abent
half-a-mile to the seuth, and a loop line
was built te connect the South Western
branch with the Joint Statiom, No
specific powers were given to the L.S.W_R.
to build this leop, but it probably was

Wills
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eonstructed instead of the tramway
authorised to the canal, as the Juint
Station adjoined the canal basin and
the Houth Western had s own canal
siding,

The Joint Station was approached from
the north by the broad-gauge Brstol &
Exeter branch and from the sooth by
the standard-gauge South Western loop
line, and was designed with bay plat-
forms at each end, to keep the two as
separate as possible.  Both companics
had sidings to the canal Dusing, and
the L.SW IR siding was reached by a
mixed-gauge line run right through the
station. Separate  signalboxes  were
provided by the two companies at either
erid of the station | the signals on the
broad gavge were of the disc and crossbar
pattern, and these on the narmow gauge
were of the semaphore type,

There being no competition from the
canal {which had closed the year the
Taunton line opened}, the twa hranches
prospered quictly, and, in 1871 a new
station was opened at Thom (later
called Thormnfalcon}, between Creech and
Hatch, Aboot the same time, the Souath
Western bay at the Juint Station was
lengthened, and a new platform opened
by that company at the junction of
the leop line with the older line to
the Town Station.  Although many of the
South Western trains ran throogh to the
Juint Station, the original terminus had
not been closed and was sl served by
many trains. The new platform was quite
close ta the town station [(and uckets
were obtaincd there) and the miention
was 1o keep traffic between the town and
the junction entirely on the Sonth West-
ern. Dlans were drawn up to construct
station builldings at the new platiorm,
and to close the Town Station, but this
was not done, and only a small waiting
shed was built.

The Bristol & Exeter always had been
feariul that the South Western might
ebtain running powers to Taunton, and
tor this reason 1ts branch was kept broad
gauge as long as possible ; indeed 1t
was the eonly broad gauge branch east
ufl Exeter for some years. The line
eventually was narrowed on Sunday,
July 19, 1891,

As a measure of economy, it was
decided duoring the brst world war to
clnse Chard Town Statien and the loop
platiprm, and the last passenger train
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left the station on December 30, 19186.
This was alse the last L5 \W.R. train
o the branch [or the working of both
branches was taken over by the GW. K.
{which had succesded the B.E. IR, in 1876)
as from Janvary 1, 1917, Some vears
before this, in 1896, the Town Station
amd  loeop platform had been  brought
under the control of the GW R, station-
master at the Joint Station, although the
South Western had kept its own booking
clerk at the Tovwn Station, Under the new
arrangement the Town Station was used
for goods trafiic ouly, but although the
GO K. operated bith branches it contin-
ned to work them mdependently with
two sets of rolling stock for some years.

Halts were opened by the GOW.R. at
Imvatt (between Chard and llminster)
on Mayv 5, 1928, and lhten (between
lminster and Hatch) on May 26, 1928,
In the same vear, the rails and platform
awning were removed (mom the South
Western bay at Chard.

On Janoary 1, 1948, the two hranches
became respectively parts of the Southern
and Western Regions of the Kailway
Executive, although the Western Reguon
operated both, The Arst outward change
wiis the re-naming of Chard Joeint
Station as Chard Central in November,
14948, and soom aflter, under the regwnal
adjustment scheme, the whele line from
Creech Junctim to Chard  Junction
Lecame part of the Seuthern Hepgion
o April 2, 1950, although the Western
Region was still responsible [or operation.
1Maring the fuel crisis in 1951, the whole
line was closed to passengers [rom Feb-
ruary 3, until May 7.

The route taken by the two branches
hetween Taunton and Chard Junction
15 a pleasant rural one, although the
scenery 13 not so spectacular as on the
neighbouring Bamstaple or Minehead
branches. At Taunton, the Chard train
uses bay platform XNo. 2 exclusively,
both for arrival and for departure.
After leaving the bay, the train has to
criss both down roads and the up main
line, and this sometimes 15 a cause of
delay on busy summer Saturdays, Having
reiached the up reliel line, the train
fullows it for some 2} miles to Creech
Junction, where the process is repeated,
and once again the threc other running
lines have to be crossed. The original
schemes of 1852 and 1861 provided for
a separate line inte Taunten running
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alongside the Bristol & Exeter main
line; this was not built, but it would
undoubtedly be a boon today, There
is no station at Creech Junction, and
although it was suggested on the opening
of the line that a platform be built there,
when Creech St. Michael was provided
with a halt in 1928, it was built on the
main line, some quarter-mile north of
the junction, and is not served by
Chard trains.

At Creech Junction is a large paper
mill served by a little-used siding from
the branch, and seon after the remains
of the canal can be seen on the left, and
the River Tone is crossed by a MAsSOnry
bridge. = The line them rums through
undulating country to Thornfaleen, which
has several sidings, one of which forms
a loop around the back of the single
platform. [t is not, however, a passing
place, and the signalbex is now closed,
Access to the sidings is obtained by means
of a key on the train stafi, The station
building is a small wooden one, in con-
trast to the substantial stations else-
where on the line,

The line mow climbs at gradients of
| in 80 and 1 in 84 along the foot of the
Blackdown Hills. Crossing over the
main road, it enters a wooded cutting,
ending in a short tunnel 154 yd. long,
beyond which the train runs into Hatch
Station. The tunnel, like the other
engineering works on the line, was built
to take two tracks, but traffic has never
warranted a second. Hatch Station has
one platform and a passing loop ; the
station buildings are of pleasing design
in brick with freestone facings, typical
of the Bristol & Exeter Railway, Passen-
ger trains de not cross here, and the box
is often switched out, making one long
section from Creech Junction to Ilmin-
ster,

Beyond Hatch, the line undulates
at gradients up te 1 in 100, and at
Spekes Wood level crossing signs of the
new regional ownership can be seen in
the form of a pair of standard Southern
Region upper quadrant distant signals
protecting the crossing. Emerging on to
an embankment, [lton Halt, a short
timber platform deveoid of shelter, is
reached and the line crosses the River
Isle (which gives its name to Ilton
and Ilminster) and enters Ilminster
station, This is similar in design to
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Hatch, with one platform and a crossing
loop, but passenger trains do not cross
here. The station is nearly a mile from
the centre of the town, and as there is a
frequent bus service to Chard and
Taunton, passenger traffic is mainly
confined to travellers who have changed
from the main line at Taunton, Ilminster
is, however, the only growing town in
south-east Somerset, and in consequence
there is steady goods traffic,

A short climb brings the train to
Donyatt Halt, somewhat similar to
Ilton, but provided with a waiting hut.
For much of the remaining three miles
to Chard, the line climbs steadily at
1 in 80. Shertly before Chard, the canal
passed under the line, and a the
bridge has been filled in remains of the
canal incline can be seen on the right.

Chard Joint Station, or rather Chard
Central as it is now called, is in effect
a rather larger edition of Hatch or Ilmin-
ster. There is only one through road,
which is covered by an allover roof.
The station is but a shadow of its former
self, for the crossing loop is now a siding,
and the south bay is no more. The
L.S.W.R. signalbox, which had been
re-built by the G.W.R. after it assumed
maintenance of the loop line in 1896,
was removed when the south bay closed,
and the engine shed is now half demol-
ished. The turntable was of mixed
gauge, but the engine shed was provided
for B.E.R. 1 alone (the South
Western having a shed, but no turntable,
at the Town Statien). A large tank
in the roof of the shed, originally supplied
by a horse-worked pump, still supplies
the station with water, but the track to
the shed was removed in December,
1933, and the roof was demolished in
1953. The turntable was removed in
November,
firet world war, the stationmaster of
Chard Joint Station (and latterly of
the Town Station also) was Mr, W, T.
Dominy, a well-known local worthy, who
later became Mavor of Chard, and died
at the age of 105,

The loop line to the South Western
branch lies in a cutting, and the loop

platform is on the right, bevond the bridge
carrying the main London road over the
railway. As the train joins the original
branch, the Town Station can be seen

some 200 yd. away. The station i
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L.
Thornfalcon, showing the wooden station building and the siding loop around
the back of the single platform
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The sidings, goods shed, platform, passing loop, and signalbox at Hatch,
looking north towards the tunnel
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are still in existence, and although built
of corrugated iron, they date from the
opening of the line. Such a structure
might not appear to be much eof an
adornment te the town, but on the closure
of " the tin station " (as it was known}
a poem appeared in the local Press with
the tatle ** Lines en the Closing of Chard
Town Station.” There 15 also a large
goods shed here and originally there was
an engine shed {removed in December,
1929) and a signalbex. The box was re-
moved on the closure of the station to
passengers, and access is now obtained
by a key on the train tablet.

The line to Chard Junctien is unevent-
ful, running down a gently sloping valley,
and then curving east to finish alongside
the main-line station, The branch
platiorm is separated from the main
station by the approach read, although
there are no separate buildings. As the
branch comes to a dead end, it is only
possible to reach the main line by a back
shunt through the goods yard.

The twe branches are nominally worked
in four sections, Creech Junction to
Hatch, Hatch to Ilminster, llminster
to Chard Central, and Chard Central to
Chard Junction, but Hatch is often
switched out, and passenger trains can
only cross at Chard Central. As there is
no loop here it is the practice for a train
from Chard Junction te set dewn its
passengers at the main platform and
then run forward and set back inte
the nerth bay, thus leaving the through
road clear for a train frem Taunton,
The former G.W.R. branch is controlled
by electric train staff, and the Seuthern
line by electric tablet. Speed is restricted
to 45 m.p.h. between Creech Junction
and Chard Central, to 15 m.p.h. en the
loop, and to 20 m.p.h. between Chard
Town and Chard Junction. A peculianty
uf the line is that up trains are those from
Taunton te Chard Junction, and dewn
trains those to Taunten, designations
which originated long before the whole
line became part of the Southern Region.

The present passenger train service
consists of six trains a day in each direc-
tion between Chard and Taunton, and
eight to Chard Junctien, with an addi-
tional Saturday working. There is ne
Sunday service, The same train works
through from Taunten to Chard Junction,
but as trains are timed to make connec-
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tions both at Taunton and Chard Junction
there is often a wait at Chard Central.
Locomotives of the yellow and un-
coloured classifications can work on the
branches, The passenger traffic is m-
variably handled by a " 54xx” 0-6-0
tank or " 55xx "' 2-6-2 tank., A " 57xx "
0-8-0 tank is usual for gouds traffic,
theugh ' 2251 ' class (-6-0s have worked
on the line. As there is now no turntable
on the line, the nermal practice is for
engines to work chimney first on up
trains, and bunker first on down trains.
The coaching stock is invariably a
*“ B Set,” although on the re-opening of
the twe branches in May, 1951, a pull-
and-push train was used for a short
while, Teday passenger traffic is hght,

Im eonclusion, the author wishes to
express his thanks for the help and advice
given him in the ton of this
article by Mr. E. C. R, Hadfield, Mr.
J. G. Spence, Mr. R. A. Hamnet (District
Engineer, Exeter, Southern Region), the
Public Relations & Publicity Officer of
the Western Region, the Editor of the
Chard & Iminster News, and the Somerset
Record Office.



